#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

J. GWYNN PARKER and CLARICE P. CALE, as Personal Representatives of the ESTATE of EUNICE P. ANDERSON, deceased, and CENTURY DEVELOPMENT OF TALLAHASSEE, INC.,

Appellants,

vs.

CASE NO. 80,230

LEON COUNTY,

Appellee.

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

M. Stephen Turner Florida Bar No. 095691 David K. Miller Florida Bar No. 213128 BROAD AND CASSEL 400 First Florida Bank Tower 215 South Monroe Street P.O. Box 11300 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 681-6810

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANTS

This case arises upon the following question certified by the First District Court of Appeal:

WHETHER THE RIGHT TO PETITION FOR COMMON LAW CERTIORARI IN THE CIRCUIT COURTS OF THE STATE IS STILL AVAILABLE TO A LANDOWNER/PETITIONER WHO SEEKS APPELLATE REVIEW OF A LOCAL GOVERNMENT DEVELOPMENT ORDER FINDING COMPREHENSIVE PLAN INCONSISTENCY, NOTWITHSTANDING SECTION 163.3215, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989)?

This case began as an administrative (quasi-judicial) proceeding in which Appellants applied for a subdivision plat approval from Leon County. Following Planning Department staff review, the Planning Commission denied the plat by a written order. (AC App. 19). Appellants filed an administrative appeal to the Board of County Commissioners. Before the County heard the case, Appellants' counsel submitted a lengthy letter setting forth their position to the County. (AC App. 21-26). The Board of County Commissioners by voice vote upheld the Planning Commission's denial order. (AC App. 35-50).

Appellants then filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Leon County Circuit Court, seeking review of the administrative record and denial order. (R. 1-35). The County interposed a defense that Appellants had failed to submit a verified administrative complaint and await a response under § 163.3215(4), Florida Statutes, prior to filing their petition for writ of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Amended Complaint and its appendix are in the record (R. 237-315) and in the Appendix to this Brief (Brief App. 12-90). For convenience, references to paragraphs in the Amended Complaint are made by the symbol (AC  $\P$ ); references to the Amended Complaint Appendix are made by the symbol (AC App.).

certiorari. The Circuit Court (Honorable Charles D. McClure, Judge) rejected this defense upon a determination that § 163.3215 governed only challenges by third party intervenors, not the ownerapplicants' rights to review by writ of certiorari. The Circuit Court granted the writ upon findings that the County's denial action was illegal. (R. 166-72).

The County sought appellate review by writ of certiorari. See Leon County v. Parker, 566 So. 2d 1315 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) ("Parker <u>I</u>"). (Brief App. 8-11). The District Court of Appeal never reached the merits of the Circuit Court's ruling. The unsigned panel majority opinion (Judges Allen and Wentworth concurring) granted certiorari, holding that Appellants were required to submit a verified complaint and await a response from the County before seeking judicial review, pursuant to § 163.3215(4), Florida Statutes. Judge Nimmons dissented, reasoning that the Circuit Court had correctly ruled that this statutory verified complaint procedure was intended to apply only to third parties seeking to intervene in a local land use dispute, and not to owner-applicants whose position had already been considered and rejected by the local land use authority. Id. at 1318.

However, on rehearing the Court of Appeal remanded the case to allow Appellants to amend their pleading. <u>Id</u>. at 1318. On remand, Appellants filed an Amended Complaint seeking a writ of certiorari (Count One) and declaratory and injunctive relief (Count Two) under state law. (R. 237-315).

LIT\10023\0006\DK.MMMB8.25C 920910

The Amended Complaint alleged facts showing substantial compliance with the verified complaint requirement and the futility, waiver and inadequacy of further compliance. The Circuit Court nevertheless dismissed the action for failure to strictly comply with the verified complaint procedure. (R. 399-400). Appellants appealed this final order.

The District Court of Appeal affirmed without opinion, 17 FLW 1387 ("Parker II"), citing to the companion case of Emerald Acres, Inc. v. Leon County, 17 FLW 1322 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). In Emerald Acres, the Court majority (Judges Allen and Barfield) held that Section 163.3215 replaced common law certiorari as the ownerapplicant's remedy for review of local land use development orders that involve determination of consistency with comprehensive plans. The Court held that Emerald Acres had not complied with the statute's verified complaint requirement and that dismissal was Judge Kahn, in a separate opinion, expressed his doubts proper. that Section 163.3215 applied to the owner-applicant (as Judge Nimmons expressed in Parker I), but he felt bound by the prior decision to join the majority holding. (Brief App. 145-148). On rehearing, the Court certified this question. 17 FLW 1736.

To summarize, three judges have agreed with Appellants' position that § 163.3215, Florida Statutes, does not apply to the owner-applicant (the Circuit Court and Judges Nimmons and Kahn of the First District Court of Appeal), while three judges have agreed with the County's position (Judges Allen, Barfield and Wentworth of the District Court of Appeal). As shown in the argument below, no

LIT\10023\0006\DKMMMB8.25C 920910

other court has ruled that the statute displaces the ownerapplicant's common law certiorari remedy. The issue is of public importance because the review of literally thousands of local land use decisions will be substantially affected by the procedure which this Court holds applicable.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS<sup>2</sup>

Appellants are sellers and purchasers of a 37 acre tract of land located near the intersection of Benjamin Chaires Road and Buck Lake Road in Leon County, Florida. This property was zoned A-2 (agricultural) under the Leon County zoning ordinance at all times pertinent to this case. The zoning ordinance specifies that property zoned A-2 can be developed with single family dwelling units on a minimum lot size of 20,000 square feet (.46 acre). (AC ¶ 4-7; AC App. 4-6, 21-27).

In the fall of 1989, Appellants submitted an application for a preliminary subdivision plat for the subject property, to be called Ashford Glen. In the course of planning staff review, the application was amended to eliminate several planned lots and to conform to all technical requirements for subdivision plat approval. The amended application proposed development of 54 single family dwelling units on lots averaging .68 acre, well above the minimum authorized by the County's zoning ordinance. (AC  $\P$  8-10; AC App. 21-22, 53).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For purposes of review, the fact allegations of Appellants' Amended Complaint and Appendix are presumed correct.

The County planning staff and the Planning Commission reviewed the Appellants' amended application. On January 10, 1990, the Planning Commission issued a written order denying the amended application because the lot density was deemed "too dense when compared with other subdivisions in the area which average one (1) unit per 3.1 acres." The Planning Commission ruled the application was inconsistent with general policy statements in the comprehensive land use plan relating to compatibility with neighboring properties and compaction of urban growth. (AC  $\P$  11; AC App. 19).

On January 12, 1990, Appellants appealed this decision to the Leon County Commission as authorized by the Leon County Code. (AC  $\P$  12; AC App. 20). The planning staff prepared a thorough agenda report describing the issue and the Planning Commission's action. (AC App. 21-26).

On January 25, 1990, Appellants' counsel submitted a seven page letter setting forth in detail the reasons why the Planning Commission's action was improper and why Appellants were entitled to plat approval. The letter included the factual background of the application supplementing the facts in the staff agenda report; an extensive discussion of the applicable legal authorities; and a request that the plat application be approved, as well as the signature of counsel. The letter addressed the legality of the Planning Commission's order because the facts were not disputed, and the only issue was one of law. (AC  $\P$  13) (AC App. 27-33).

LIT\10023\0006\DKMMMB8.25C 920910

On January 30, 1990, the County Commission met to review the Planning Commission's order. The meeting began with the following statement by the County Attorney:

MR. WILKINSON: I think it would be appropriate if Mr. Turner [Appellants' attorney] went ahead with this appeal. We did discuss the legal issues. I don't think the lawyers were able to do anything more than what lawyers normally do, which was agree to disagree.

A COMMISSIONER: As I recall, he wanted a week to attempt to demonstrate to you that the Commission's recommendation was contrary to law, basically, or be a strong compelling case that we should overturn.

MR. WILKINSON: Let me say, in his own inimitable way Mr. Turner did present a strong case. By the same token, we felt that the County Commission's position in construction of the ordinances is defensible. It's currently in litigation.<sup>3</sup> There are no clearcut cases the points of issue which you will hear tonight, and obviously the results are going to be because we are advocates. Litigation perhaps may ultimately be resolved in the circuit court and appellate court.

The issues of this type, for whatever merit it has for the commissioners in considering this and several prior subdivisions that have come up, should, of course very soon be a thing of the past now that you will be operating under a new set of rules and a new comprehensive plan in terms of the requirements and so forth and so on, and so very shortly we have, this kind of decision that you well have to make will be a thing of the past ..... (AC ¶ 14; AC App. 35-36).

The Commissioners asked no questions concerning the legality of the Planning Commission's decision, and made no discussion of this dispositive issue at all. (AC App. 44-46). The County had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This reference to pending litigation was understood by all to refer to the certiorari proceeding filed by Emerald Acres, Inc. (see R. 312-315; Brief App. 87-90). That proceeding is a companion to this case and is presently before the Supreme Court as Case No. 80,288. Since the County had already determined to litigate its position on the issue, no purpose would have been served by further administrative proceedings. (AC ¶ 18a).

decided its position on this issue in the prior proceedings. Instead, immediately following Appellants' presentation, the Commission started to summarily uphold the Planning Commission's decision:

COMMISSIONER TURNBULL: Mr. Chairman, would you entertain a motion? I move option one to uphold the Planning Commission's decision to deny the plat.

CHAIRMAN YORDON: I have a motion.

A VOICE: Second.

CHAIRMAN YORDON: We have a second, is there discussion, all in -- yes.

MR. LA CROIX: Mr. Chairman, I would recommend that you not uphold that decision unless you find that denial of the plat is consistent with the comprehensive plan, and if you do uphold the decision of the Planning Commission, I would recommend that you remand this application back to the Planning Commission with the request that the Planning Commission advise the applicant how the plat has to be amended to be approved in order to provide due process to the applicant.

CHAIRMAN YORDON: Do you make any further motions?

COMMISSIONER TURNBULL: I believe that was my motion.

COMMISSIONER VAUSE: Actually it was.

MR. WILKINSON: This is a <u>technicality</u> and what I would like to suggest is that David get with Marty and make --

\* \* \*

COMMISSIONER TURNBULL: All right, I withdraw my original motion and my second motion is to uphold the Planning Commission decision to deny approval of the preliminary plat of Ashford Glen and remand it back to the Planning Commission for <u>instructions</u> to the applicant.

MR. LA CROIX: I believe Mr. Turner is going to save you the trouble and waive any argument as to the lack of any denial of due process, he does not want to go back to

the Planning Commission so if you will put that on the record, then we don't have a problem with it.

(AC App. 46-47, 48) (e.s.). Thus the expressed purpose for remand to the Planning Commission was for a technicality to "instruct" Appellants on their development rights, and not to consider the application further. Everyone present knew the case was headed for court, and there was no mention of any need for any verified complaint procedure.<sup>4</sup>

The County Commission unanimously adopted this restated motion by voice vote. (AC App. 50). It did not issue any written order on the matter.

Appellants had already negotiated with the County staff to reduce the proposed number of lots in Ashford Glen to 54, which was the minimum that was economically feasible for them to develop. In other subdivisions selected by the Planning Commission to determine compatibility, the range of lot sizes was 2.4 to 3.8 acres. There was no possibility that Appellants' entitlement to the applied-for .68 acre lot size would be recognized by further administrative action. To return to the Planning Commission would result in further expense and delay, for an advisory ruling that nobody wanted, without any prospect for approval of an economically feasible subdivision. (AC ¶ 10, 15, 18; AC App. 23, 53).

Moreover, as the County Attorney observed at the hearing, the County was preparing to adopt a new comprehensive plan that, once

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The County's subdivision review ordinance, Section 18-35, Leon County Code (R. 389-391, Brief App. 119-121), likewise makes no reference to any verified complaint procedure.

adopted, would provide the County with legal authority that could be used to justify denial of the Appellants' plat application. Further delay in completing administrative proceedings might irreparably prejudice the Appellants. (AC  $\P$  19-21 and 33-35).

On February 6, 1990, Appellants filed their petition for common law certiorari review to review the Planning Commission's order, the only written order ever provided. The gist of the petition was that the County had no lawful basis to deny the application which met the specific density standard of the zoning code, and that the general comprehensive plan policies did not purport to govern the Appellants' density rights or supercede the specific numerical standard in the zoning code. (R. 1-35). This petition was filed within 30 days of both the Planning Commission's written order and the County Commission's voice vote.

The Circuit Court determined that the County had acted illegally to deny Appellants' plat application, and granted the writ of certiorari. (R. 166-172; Brief App. 1-7), ruling in pertinent part:

2. The County raises a threshold question of subject matter jurisdiction. Section 163.3215, Florida Statutes (1989), does not provide the exclusive remedy for Plaintiffs to challenge the County's denial of the preliminary plat. That statute allows aggrieved citizens to challenge a decision approving development. The remedies available to an applicant to challenge the denial of use by certiorari review remain. See <u>Gregory</u> <u>v. City of Alachua</u>, 553 So.2d 206 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), reh'g denied. This action is properly before the Court on a Complaint for Writ of Certiorari....

The Court held that the specific zoning code standard, and not the comprehensive plan, governed Appellants' density rights:

LIT\10023\0006\DKMMMB8.25C 920910

11. The Plan consists of statements of local goals, objectives and policies and supporting future land use maps. The County's ordinance adopting the plan and the plan itself provide that it is a <u>guide</u> to future development. (Ordinance 80-69, section 17.1-25(a); Plan, p. 3).

#### \* \* \*

13. Sections 17.1-25(b) and (d), Leon County Code of Laws, implementing the Plan, and the implementation section of the Plan (pp. 124-125) provide that zoning districts existing on the date of plan adoption will continue to determine allowable land uses. This is so regardless of any conflict with the Plan (with an exception not applicable here), until the zoning is changed. Section 17.1-25(d) of Leon County's plan regulations explicitly provides that property may be developed pursuant to the density of the zoning classification in effect at the time the Plan was adopted.

14. The existing A-2 zoning classification density and use provisions would control development of Plaintiffs' property, even if the Comprehensive Plan had projected a different conflicting use or density, unless and until the zoning is changed.

\* \* \*

17. The County Comprehensive Plan's general guideline policies cannot be used to change the specific density allowed by zoning regulations that remain unchanged. [citations omitted].

18. Under the guise of its Comprehensive Plan, the County impermissibly used its power of approval of subdivision plats to create a different density for Plaintiffs' property than allowed under the zoning code and other regulations implementing the plan. The County may not circumvent the law in this fashion to effectively amend the zoning for Plaintiffs' property without due process.

The Circuit Court concluded:

20. There was no lawful basis to deny Plaintiffs' preliminary plat for the Ashford Glen property. Leon County failed to apply applicable law and departed from

the essential requirements of law in refusing to approve the plat. $^{5}$ 

Following the District Court of Appeal's remand with permission to amend their pleading, Appellants filed their Amended Complaint, again alleging they were entitled to subdivide and develop under the specific zoning code density standard, and that the comprehensive plan did not determine density at all, but deferred to the zoning code, as the Circuit Court had previously ruled. (AC ¶ 19-20). Appellants did not allege that they were entitled to relief under the comprehensive plan because the plan did not control density.

The Amended Complaint contained the following specific allegations pertinent to the verified complaint procedure:

13. On January 25, 1990, within 30 days of the Planning Commission's decision, Plaintiffs submitted a lengthy complaint to the Defendant, signed by their counsel, in substantial compliance with Florida Statute Section 163.3215(4) & (6), setting forth the basis for their objection to the decision and requesting approval of the proposed subdivision plat.

\* \* \*

To avoid undue delay, Plaintiffs filed an 16. action in this Court on February 6, 1990, within 30 days from the Planning Commission denial of the preliminary plat application and within 30 days of the Defendant's response to Plaintiffs' Complaint about action of the extent Commission. Therefore, to the Planning applicable, Plaintiff complied with conditions of Section 163.3215, Florida Statutes, to seek relief from the Planning Commission's denial of the proposed Ashford Glen plat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> An appellate court has subsequently rendered a decision that squarely adopts the same reasoning. <u>Colonial Apartments L.P. v.</u> <u>City of DeLand</u>, 577 So.2d 593 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) (certiorari granted), <u>review denied</u>, 584 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1991).

18. In any event, compliance with the statutory conditions of filing an administrative complaint with, and receiving a response from Defendant prior to seeking judicial relief, is excused in this case because:

\* \* \*

a. It would have been futile to seek any further administrative relief since Defendant's position on the issue was applied as prevailing policy, was unequivocally stated as justified and defensible by the Board of County Commissioners and its attorney at public meeting, and was currently in litigation after exhaustive presentation by Plaintiff Emerald Acres Investments, Inc. in an earlier application.

b. It would have been useless to seek any further administrative relief since Defendant, through its Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners, had refused to approve the requested plat to which Plaintiffs were absolutely entitled by law and which was already at the minimum lot density they could economically develop.

c. It was unnecessary to seek any further administrative relief because the Planning Commission acted in excess of and grossly abused its administrative authority by construing general guideline statements in the comprehensive plan as if they were specific land use requirements, and applying such general statements in an ad hoc manner to negate specific land use entitlements authorized by law in flagrant violation of the due process and separation of powers guarantees of the Florida Constitution. (R 239-241; Brief App. 14-16).

Appellants also amended their January 25, 1990 letter to include a verification by Appellants' counsel, and furnished this verified letter to the County and the Court. (Supp. R. 1-10; Brief App. 84-92).

The County again moved to dismiss the case for failure to file a verified administrative complaint under Section 163.3215(4). (R. 352-360; Brief App. 100-108). On April 10, 1991, the Circuit Court entered an order granting the motion to dismiss (R. 361-362; Brief App. 109-110). The Court held in pertinent part:

12

1. Section 163.3215, Florida Statutes, provides the sole action available to challenge the consistency of a development order with a local comprehensive plan.

\* \* \*

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