IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,230

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

 $V_{\odot}$ 

J. GWYNN PARKER and CLARICE P. CALE, as Personal Representatives of the ESTATE OF EUNICE P. ANDERSON, deceased, and CENTURY DEVELOPMENT OF TALLAHASSEE, INC.,

Petitioners,

v.

LEON COUNTY,

Respondent.



## **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

DAVID LA CROIX FL BAR NO. 0156740 PENNINGTON, WILKINSON & DUNLAP, P.A. P.O. Box 13527 Tallahassee, Florida 32317-3527 (904) 385-1103

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The statute is not at all ambiguous, as suggested by the Petitioners. If it were ambiguous, however, case law cited by the Petitioners--to the effect that an ambiguous statute should not be

interpreted as eliminating a common law remedy--would still be inapplicable. The statute does not eliminate a common law remedy, because no person ever had a common law right to Comprehensive Plan consistency; that right--and the remedy--are both statutory.

## II. STATUTORY CAUSES OF ACTION REQUIRE STRICT COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY CONDITIONS PRECEDENT.

As noted above, the Petitioners' <u>exclusive</u> action available was a statutory cause of action under Section 163.3215, not a common law certiorari petition or an action under the Declaratory Judgment Act. In Florida, while satisfaction of conditions precedent may usually be alleged generally, a pleader relying on a cause of action created by statute must specifically allege compliance with statutory prerequisites. <u>Moore v. Crum</u>, 68 So.2d 379 (Fla. 1953), and <u>San</u> <u>Marco Contracting Co. v. State, Department of Transportation</u>, 386 So.2d 615, 617 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). Florida courts require strict compliance with such statutory conditions precedent. <u>E.g., Ferry-</u> <u>Morse Seed Co. v. Hitchcock</u>, 426 So.2d 958 (Fla. 1983); <u>Moore v.</u> <u>Crum, supra;</u> and <u>Gannett Florida Corp. v. Montesano</u>, 308 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), <u>cert. den.</u> 317 So.2d 78 (Fla. 1975).

Furthermore, compliance with a condition precedent to a statutory cause of action is an essential element of the cause of action, and an action cannot be properly commenced until all of such elements are present. <u>Ferry-Morse Seed Co. v. Hitchcock</u>, <u>supra</u> at 961, and <u>Orlando Sports Stadium, Inc. v. Sentinel Star Co.</u>, 316 So.2d 607, 610 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975).

The Petitioners did not even allege generally that they had complied with all conditions precedent. What they did allege was that they had "substantially" complied with the requirements of Section 163.3215(4) and that compliance with the statutory condition precedent should be dismissed or excused in their case. () Their Amended Complaint, however, as well as their Brief filed herein, continuously speaks in terms of exhausting an administrative remedy and confuses that doctrine with a statutory condition precedent. All of the case authorities cited by the Petitioners in support of their futility argument relate to situations dealing with the futility of an administrative remedy; not a single one is a case involving a statutory cause of action and a statutory condition precedent to that action.

Required exhaustion of administrative remedies is a judicial doctrine based on policies which include deference to agencies which are part of the executive or legislative branches of government and a policy of not stifling administrative action before it has run its 1 Fla.Jur.2d, Administrative Law §147, and cases cited course. There are several bases for excusing exhaustion of therein. remedies in certain instances. On the other hand, as stated above, a statutory condition precedent is an element of a statutory cause of action, compliance with which <u>must</u> be pleaded in order to state a cause of action. 40 <u>Fla.Jur.2d</u>, Pleadings §79 (entitled "Statutory Conditions"), and cases cited therein. If all elements of the action as required by statute are not present, the court has no jurisdiction of the subject matter. Even one of the authorities

cited by the Petitioners in their Amended Complaint, the concurring opinion of Judge Ferguson in <u>Warner v. City of Miami</u>, 490 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), clearly states that "the failure-to-exhaust defense does not go to subject matter jurisdiction but to court policy . . . " <u>Id</u>. at 1045. As noted above, satisfaction of a condition precedent to a statutory cause of action is an element of the cause of action, the absence of which leaves the court with no subject matter jurisdiction.

Even assuming, however, that what is involved here is simply the failure to exhaust an administrative remedy, rather than noncompliance with a statutory condition precedent, the facts and cases relied upon by the Petitioners would not justify even a failure to exhaust an administrative remedy. The <u>Warner v. City of Miami</u>, <u>supra</u>, opinion merely finds a failure to exhaust an administrative remedy excusable in that case, without identifying any of the facts which led to that conclusion. <u>Bruce v. City of Deerfield Beach</u>, 423 So.2d 404 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), merely held that a pleaded failure to exhaust an administrative remedy for futility raised a factual issue precluding a summary judgment.

Other case opinions were cited in the Petitioners' Brief to support their argument and assertion that, in this case, "The futility of requiring any further administrative action is apparent." One of these cases, <u>Metropolitan Dade County v.</u> <u>Fountainbleau Gas & Wash, Inc.</u>, 570 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), merely mentions administrative remedies in passing and gives no facts as to what possible administrative remedies were available, if

any, and why they might have been excusable. <u>City of Holly Hill v.</u> <u>State ex rel. Gem Enterprises, Inc.</u>, 132 So.2d 29 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961), merely held that the administrative remedies claimed to be available were futile because they could not have accorded any relief or were unnecessary to the decision made by the City of Holly Hill City Council.

City of Miami Beach v. Sunset Islands 3 & 4 Property Owners Association, Inc., 216 So.2d 509 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), was a mandamus proceeding to compel a building inspector to perform a clear legal duty and enforce a zoning ordinance and require termination of a land use prohibited in the applicable zoning district. The court did not detail in its opinion what the possible claimed available administrative remedy was, or what facts led it to conclude that "it became apparent that the building inspector was not going to discharge his duty and . . . halt the unauthorized use . . . ." <u>Id.</u> at 510-1. As to alleged failure to exhaust an administrative remedy, the court held:

Mandamus is a recognized remedy to require a public official, who is clothed with the authority, to discharge his duty. . . There is no requirement that a relator exhaust his administrative remedies prior to seeking the issuance of an alternative writ of mandamus, when it is apparent that either such a gesture would be a futile one or that there is no discretion to be exercised by the official involved under the clear wording of either a statute or an ordinance designating him as the authoritative person to respond thereunder. . . . (Citations omitted.)

216 So.2d 511.

Obviously, this case does not involve a petition for writ of mandamus, and it does not involve an official who refuses to act or the performance of a non-discretionary clear legal duty. This case involves merely a dispute and difference of opinion with public officials who <u>have</u> acted with regard to a discretionary function in balancing and applying Comprehensive Plan policies and goals in regard to a particular proposed development. Petitioners did not even identify in their Amended Complaint any facts related to their subdivision application to support the conclusion that exhaustion would be futile. Instead, they based their argument on the Respondent's position taken with regard to a completely different subdivision. It is beyond question that, particularly in regard to land use and zoning determinations, both administrative and judicial determinations are entirely dependant upon the facts of the specific land and application involved.

The only facts pleaded by the Petitioners to support their argument were that the Respondent denied their "futility" subdivision plat application and had denied another subdivision application the Petitioners claimed to be similar. (P.A.: 16) (The implication was that the Respondent had obviously taken a position; therefore, any "rehearing" or reconsideration would necessarily be fruitless.) The Petitioners could say as much, however, about any denial by a local government of any permit application. Accepting that argument would make the verified complaint requirement of Section 163.3215 totally meaningless. By the Petitioners' reasoning, no person who was denied a development permit on the basis of Comprehensive Plan inconsistency would ever have to satisfy the statutory condition precedent, because the authority which denied the permit had already taken a position.

As to the 'other' subdivision application alleged to have been denied, the facts of that application are not before the Court; each land use decision is unique based on the particular facts as to each piece of land; and the fact that the Respondent's position that its Comprehensive Plan policies applied over conflicting zoning ordinance minimum requirements had already been submitted to the courts does not change the fact that what is also involved in this case is the particular application of various Comprehensive Plan policies and goals to the facts of this proposed subdivision. The statutory verified complaint and response requirement would have crystallized the parties' positions with regard to the facts of this particular application, the specific proposed subdivision involved, and the area surrounding that specific proposed development; the requirement would have had nothing to do with any other case.

It is impossible to tell if the statutory verified complaint would have been futile, because the Petitioners have never, either before the Respondent's Planning Commission and Board of County Commissioners or before the courts, made any argument addressed to Comprehensive Plan policies upon which the the specific inconsistency determination was based or the factual matters and staff analysis which led to that determination. Perhaps if the Petitioners had ever addressed the Comprehensive Plan issues in a proper verified complaint, prior to filing suit, this matter could have been resolved.

The Petitioners have also attempted to characterize the statutory condition precedent set out in Section 163.3215(4) as a

notice of claim requirement similar to numerous statutory and charter requirements that reasonable notice of a claim be provided a public agency prior to institution of any action for damages. Such notice of claim requirements (typically called "non-claim" statutes or ordinances) are not themselves part of a statute which creates a cause of action; they are procedural requirements which must be followed prior to the institution of certain tort or other actions for damages, and courts regularly hold that substantial compliance is necessary. All of the cases cited by the Petitioners held that only substantial compliance with a non-claim statute or charter provision was necessary. However, without going through each of those cases, suffice it to say that not one of them dealt with a statutory cause of action and a required condition precedent to that action.

Petitioners have attempted to "toss off" the cases cited above regarding statutory causes of action by attempting to characterize all of them as cases in which the issue of substantial compliance simply wasn't addressed, because no "substantial compliance" had been performed. Actually, a quick perusal of the cases will reveal that the particular statutory conditions precedent involved in those cases were "nearly" complied with or complied with in a technically deficient manner; "substantial compliance" was certainly not discussed in these case opinions because they held that strict compliance was necessary. The most familiar statutory cause of action, as to which Florida courts have repeatedly held that strict compliance with statutory conditions precedent is necessary, is that

provided in the mechanic's lien law. In <u>Stresscon v. Reynaldo</u> <u>Madiedo</u>, 581 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1991), the Florida Supreme Court once again held--citing several prior cases--that foreclosure of a mechanic's lien is a statutory cause of action and requires strict compliance with the statutory conditions precedent. (<u>Stresscon</u>, by the way, involved an after-the-fact verification of a required notice, which is exactly what the Petitioners herein are claiming was part of their "substantial compliance.")

Even though strict compliance with a condition precedent to a statutory cause of action is necessary under Florida case law, the Petitioners merely alleged in their Amended Complaint that they had substantially complied with the verified complaint requirement of Section 163.3215(4) by means of a letter from their attorney, arguing his legal position as to how the Respondent's Comprehensive Plan should be interpreted, which was sent to the Respondent's County Attorney. (P.A.: 55) The letter was not verified, merely signed by the attorney (The statute requires verification.); the letter was delivered to the County Attorney several days before action was taken by the Respondent's Board of County Commissioners (the approving authority) on Petitioners' plat application (The statute requires that a verified complaint be filed with the Respondent within the thirty-day period after action is taken on a development permit application.); the letter simply argued the attorney's position that general Comprehensive Plan policies should not be used to deny an application which meets the minimum requirements of a zoning ordinance (The statute requires that the

verified complaint set out the facts and issues as to the application of the Comprehensive Plan policies to a particular Plan consistency determination--which had not yet been finally made in this case. Furthermore, Chapter 163 provides that a Comprehensive conflicting development precedence over any Plan takes regulations.); the letter did not even identify itself as intending to be a Section 163.3215 verified complaint, so that a response, as provided in the statute, could be made; and Petitioners' initial complaint herein (a petition for writ of certiorari) was filed in this case on February 6, 1990 (R.A.: 19), only seven days after the development order was issued denying the plat application (P.A.: 62-79), four days after written notice of the final action (R.A.: 43), and twelve days after the attorney's letter was delivered. (P.A.: 55) (The statute provides that a party must institute the statutory review action no sooner than thirty days after the verified complaint is filed or no sooner than receipt of a response to the verified complaint, whichever is earlier.)

The attorney's letter, which the Petitioners claim was substantial compliance with the statutory condition precedent, was again sent to the Respondent (and filed with the Court) on December 4, 1990, with the attorney's verification attached to it in such a way as to appear that this was a timely "verified complaint" under the statute. (P.A.: 91-9) Aside from the fact that this second copy of the letter--even if it could be considered as meeting the requirements for a verified complaint--was provided more than ten and one-half months after issuance of the development order to which

it was addressed, this suit had already been filed some ten months earlier. As noted above, compliance with a condition precedent to a statutory cause of action is an essential element of the cause of action, and an action cannot be properly commenced until all of such elements are present. <u>Ferry-Morse Seed Co. v. Hitchcock</u>, <u>supra</u> at 961, and <u>Orlando Sports Stadium, Inc. v. Sentinel Star Co.</u>, <u>supra</u> at 610. Generally, failure to comply with a statutory condition precedent cannot be cured by compliance after suit is filed. <u>Orlando Sports Stadium, Inc. v. Sentinel Star Co.</u>, <u>supra</u> at 610, and authorities cited therein.

Therefore, even if the law permitted only substantial compliance with a condition precedent to a statutory cause of action, under no stretch of the imagination could this letter be considered as "substantial compliance."

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the authorities cited and the argument made herein, it is respectfully requested that this Court decline to accept jurisdiction of the certified question or, if jurisdiction is accepted, that the Court affirm the District Court of Appeals' conclusion that Section 163.3215, Florida Statutes, means exactly what the Legislature clearly and specifically said.